

## **Minireview Article**

### **Healthy Lifestyles during Pregnancy is Associated with Better Maternal and Fetal Health**

#### **Abstract**

Evidence indicates that healthy lifestyles can significantly improve maternal and fetal outcomes during pregnancy. Several major physiological changes take place during a normal pregnancy, all aimed at keeping the mother and the growing fetus healthy. Five major lifestyles, tobacco smoking, alcohol consumption, obesity, sedentary lifestyle, and inadequate nourishment can deleteriously alter these processes. Several myths, addictions, societal stigmas, and other factors often lie behind the continuance of unhealthy lifestyles. Besides directly impacting the course of a normal pregnancy, fetal development, delivery, and lactation with breastfeeding, these unhealthy lifestyles also impact several chronic diseases that invariably harm the pregnancy. This manuscript briefly reviews the effects of these lifestyles.

**Keywords:** pregnancy, smoking, exercise, alcohol, diet, obesity

**Comment [MM1]:** I suggest to put a colon in the enumeration of the determinants of lifestyle habits (-).

**Comment [MM2]:** Abbreviations are used in the text, so it is necessary to provide a list of abbreviations.

#### **Introduction**

Pregnancy usually lasts about 40 weeks (about 9 months) and is usually split into three trimesters<sup>1</sup>. The first trimester is from week one to week 12, the second from week 13 to week 28 and finally the third from week 29 to week 40. Infants born before 37 weeks are considered preterm, those born between the 37th and 38th week of pregnancy are called early term. Those born at 39 weeks or later, are considered full term<sup>2</sup>. Pregnancy is associated with several physiological changes, including an increase in the production of estrogens, progesterone, prolactin, and the placental human chorionic gonadotropin<sup>3</sup>. The gestational body weight increases, mainly due to the additional weight of the fetus, the placenta, enlarging uterus, amniotic fluid, mammary glands, and adipose tissue<sup>4</sup>. Several cardiac and hematological changes also occur. Plasma volume and cardiac output may increase by about 40% - resulting in peripheral vasodilatation and a decrease in systemic vascular resistance. There is a reduction in hemoglobin concentration, hematocrit, red blood cell, and platelet count<sup>5</sup>. Oxygen demand increases by 20 to 30%. There is an increase in respiratory rate and an increase in ventilation. Several other systems are also affected, primarily to adapt to the growing needs of pregnancy<sup>6</sup>. These changes continue to evolve as the pregnancy progresses and start resolving with the birth of the baby and expulsion of the placenta<sup>6</sup>. Lactation and breastfeeding provide the offspring with hydration and nutrients for the first 4–6 months of life<sup>7</sup>. Pregnancy is a complex physiological process. Lifestyles play a significant role during the entire perinatal period. This is briefly discussed in this manuscript.

#### **Discussion**

The five major lifestyles that have a significant impact on human health are smoking, obesity, exercise, alcohol intake, and diet. They play a major role in the pathogenesis of most major

38 chronic diseases. Li et al. estimated that avoidance of these five unhealthy lifestyles can  
39 significantly increase longevity<sup>8</sup>. In their estimate, adherence to healthy lifestyles at age 50,  
40 provides women 14.0 years, and men 12.2 years of additional life. These five lifestyles also have  
41 a major impact on the health of both the mother and the fetus before conception, during  
42 pregnancy, and after childbirth.

### 43 **Smoking/Tobacco Use**

44 Most pregnant smokers are aware that smoking in pregnancy is harmful, although many lack  
45 detailed knowledge of the associated risks<sup>9</sup>. However, despite this general awareness,  
46 approximately 12% of pregnant women in the United Kingdom and United States smoke  
47 throughout pregnancy<sup>10</sup>. Tobacco is the most common substance abused during pregnancy<sup>11</sup>. Its  
48 use is associated with increased maternal, fetal, and infant morbidity and mortality<sup>12</sup>. Serious  
49 outcomes from tobacco use include ectopic pregnancy, increased risk of miscarriage, placenta  
50 previa, premature rupture of membranes<sup>13</sup>, preterm birth<sup>14,15</sup>, antepartum and  
51 intrapartum stillbirth<sup>16</sup>, low birthweight<sup>17,18</sup>, decreased head circumference, perinatal death<sup>19</sup>, and  
52 sudden unexpected infant death<sup>20,21</sup>. Smoking women also tend not to breastfeed, wean offspring  
53 earlier, and produce less milk than non-smokers<sup>22</sup>. Waterpipe smoking may also increase the risk  
54 of delivering a low birthweight infant as well as other pregnancy complications<sup>23</sup>. Snuff or  
55 chewing tobacco is also associated with an increased risk of stillbirth, low birth weight,  
56 prematurity, and infant death<sup>24</sup>. Secondhand smoke (SHS) exposure to infants causes an  
57 increased risk of sudden infant death (SIDS) and lower respiratory illness<sup>25</sup>. Almost every  
58 developing organ system in the fetus, including the lungs, brain, heart, and ears, appears to be  
59 affected by prenatal exposure to tobacco<sup>26,27</sup>. The damage is usually long-term and results in  
60 future lower respiratory tract infections, asthma, otitis media, dental caries, hearing loss, and  
61 metabolic syndrome<sup>28</sup>. Exposure to secondhand smoke is also dangerous for pregnant women –  
62 studies have shown that they have a 20% greater chance of giving birth to a low-birth-weight  
63 baby than women who are not exposed to SHS during pregnancy<sup>29</sup>. Nicotine and cotinine are  
64 known to accumulate in concentrations two- to three-fold higher in breast milk than in plasma,  
65 posing an additional risk in breastfeeding infants<sup>30</sup>. Prenatal thirdhand smoke is also dangerous  
66 to the lungs in utero of the unborn child<sup>31</sup>. After birth, the newly born child may continue to be  
67 exposed to environmental dust with thirdhand smoke particles in a home where smoking is or  
68 was present<sup>32</sup>. Studies show that most women who smoked during pregnancy also continue to do  
69 so after the birth of the child<sup>33</sup>. Among children exposed to tobacco smoke either prenatally or  
70 postnatally, increased rates of behavioral problems are seen very early in life<sup>34</sup>. Newborns  
71 exposed in utero have heightened startle responses, tremors, hypertonicity, have more severe  
72 reactions to bowel movements and diapering, and tend to be fussier and cry more<sup>34</sup>. By 18  
73 months, children exposed to SHS in utero manifest increased externalizing behaviors, including  
74 defiance, not responding to punishment, inattentiveness, and hyperactivity<sup>35</sup>. During early school  
75 years, children exposed prenatally to tobacco smoke also demonstrate increased rates of behavior  
76 problems. These include hyperactivity, oppositional defiant disorder, delinquency, and both  
77 internalizing and externalizing behaviors<sup>36</sup>. An association with ADHD has also been noted<sup>37</sup>.  
78 During pre-school years, children prenatally or postnatally exposed (also with SHS) show more  
79 behavioral problems than unexposed children<sup>38,39</sup>. These include demanding attention, changes in

80 mood, emotional instability, arguing, aggression, and destructive behavior<sup>39,40</sup>. These behaviors  
81 are often persistent into adolescence<sup>41,42</sup>. E-cigarettes, unlike regular cigarettes<sup>43</sup>, expose non-  
82 pregnant adults to lower levels of carcinogens and toxins<sup>44</sup>. Exposure to second-hand e-cigarette  
83 vapor may pose less risk than exposure to second-hand cigarette smoke<sup>45</sup>. However, although the  
84 data on any harm to the pregnant woman or her baby from exposure to vaping is limited<sup>46-48</sup>,  
85 precautions should be taken to avoid such exposure. And finally, children of women who smoke  
86 cigarettes are more likely to take up smoking themselves<sup>49</sup>. There is no safe level of exposure to  
87 tobacco smoke during pregnancy.

## 88 **Obesity**

89 Obesity (body mass index or BMI>30) is increasing in pregnant women. It has recently become  
90 one of the most important health issues in pregnancy<sup>50</sup>. Current Centers for Disease Control and  
91 Prevention (USA) data suggest excessive weight gain is reported in roughly 59% of overweight  
92 women and 56% of obese women<sup>51</sup>. Excessive weight gain and obesity impact pregnancy even  
93 during the preconception period. Obesity in females is associated with subfertility and with a  
94 longer time to achieve pregnancy<sup>52,53</sup>. Observational studies indicate that bariatric surgery  
95 improves fertility in women with obesity<sup>54</sup>. Following conception, the complication rates in  
96 abnormally overweight pregnant women go up dramatically<sup>55</sup>. They are more likely to  
97 experience miscarriage<sup>56</sup> – one meta-analysis showed that in women with a BMI>25, the  
98 increased risks had an odds ratio (OR) of 1.67<sup>57</sup>. Preeclampsia and gestational hypertension  
99 (HTN), usually occurring in the second half of pregnancy or soon after childbirth in obese  
100 women, can lead to dangerous cardiovascular complications<sup>58</sup>. A Swedish cohort study of  
101 805,275 pregnancies found that 2.8% of women with a BMI of 29.1–35.0 had preeclampsia  
102 compared to 1.4% of women with a BMI of 19.8–26.0 (adjusted OR 2.62)<sup>59</sup>. Duckitt et al. found  
103 that there was a 50% increase in the risk of preeclampsia in pregnant women who had an  
104 increased BMI at the outset and this risk doubled if the BMI was >35<sup>60</sup>. Gestational diabetes  
105 (GD) is also dangerous. It leads to more cesarean sections, offspring born with high body weight,  
106 and a higher risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) in both the mother and the child in the  
107 future. One study found that almost 42% of mothers developed T2DM over 10 years following  
108 GD<sup>61</sup>. Obese pregnant women have a higher incidence of GD. A retrospective UK study of  
109 287,213 pregnancies between 1989 and 1997 showed that after adjusting for confounding  
110 factors, women with a BMI ≥30 had a high OR of 3.6 for developing GD than women with a  
111 BMI of 20.0–24.9<sup>62</sup>. A subsequent Australian study confirmed this higher risk. In a review of  
112 14,230 pregnancies, Callaway et al. found that the risk of developing GD was 2.95 times higher  
113 in obese women (BMI 30.01–40.00) compared with normal-weight (BMI 20.01–25.00)  
114 women<sup>58</sup>. Obesity also increases the risk of death from venous thromboembolism (VTE). These  
115 women often have reduced mobility, suffer from co-morbid conditions, increased frequency of  
116 operative delivery, and possibly higher levels of coagulation factors VIII and IX<sup>63</sup>. In a United  
117 Kingdom study, pregnant women with a BMI >30 had an adjusted OR of 2.65 for antenatal  
118 pulmonary thromboembolism<sup>64</sup>. Maternal obesity also exposes the offspring being stillborn or  
119 preterm<sup>65,66</sup>. Ultrasound examination of the fetus is also often difficult in obese pregnant women.  
120 During labor, they experience problems with difficulty with anesthesia, and cesarean delivery. In  
121 a systematic review and meta-analyses, Aune et al. determined that the relative risk for each five-

unit increase in BMI in overweight/obese pregnant females was increased: 1.21 for fetal death, 1.24 for stillbirth, 1.16 for perinatal death, 1.15 for neonatal death, and 1.18 for infant death<sup>67</sup>. The BMI is also inversely proportional to the length of labor in nulliparous women<sup>68</sup>. Cesarean delivery is more common: it has an unadjusted OR of 1.46 in overweight and an unadjusted OR of 2.05 in obese women when compared to normal weight women<sup>69</sup>. Anesthesia is more problematic in obese women – epidural failure is more common<sup>70</sup> and endotracheal intubation is sometimes difficult before general anesthesia<sup>71</sup>. Cesarean section is more likely to be complicated by surgical site infections in the overweight (odds ratio 1.6), obese class I (OR=2.4), and obese classes II and III (OR=3.7)<sup>72</sup>. Macrosomia (birth weight of  $\geq 4,000$  grams regardless of gestational age) is more common. Obese women also experience a higher rate of fetal birth trauma during labor e.g., shoulder dystocia, fracture of the clavicle, damage to the brachial plexus<sup>59,73</sup>. The risk of congenital abnormalities in the offspring is also increased in overweight/obese pregnant women<sup>74</sup>. A systematic review and meta-analysis found a higher risk of congenital anomalies: spina bifida (OR=2.24), neural tube defects (OR=1.87), limb reduction anomalies (OR=1.34), cardiovascular anomalies (OR=1.30), and cleft lip and palate (OR=1.20) – in children born from obese when compared with non-obese pregnant women<sup>75</sup>. The risk increases with increasing levels of obesity<sup>76</sup>. Children born with excess body weight increase their risk of later life obesity<sup>77</sup>. Obese women face several hurdles, such as delayed lactation, embarrassment with body size, larger breasts/nipples, and comorbid medical conditions, that may interfere with breast feeding. This may result in decreased rates of initiating breastfeeding and breastfeeding for shorter durations compared to normal weight women<sup>78</sup>. Obesity during pregnancy also results in postpartum weight retention and continuing obesity<sup>79,80</sup>. They are also prone to future co-morbidities such as T2DM and cardiovascular disease (CVD)<sup>65,77</sup>. According to the Institute of Medicine (IOM) suggests an optimal gestational weight gain of 11 to 20 lbs. (5 to 9 kg) for women who are obese (BMI  $>30.0$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and 15 to 25 lbs. (6.8 to 11.3 kg) for women who are in the overweight (BMI of 25.0-29.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) category<sup>51</sup>. They recommend a weight gain of 25 to 42 lbs. (11 to 19 kilograms) for obese women carrying twins or multiples. For underweight women (BMI  $<18.5$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>), a weight gain of 28-40 lbs. (12.5-18 kg) and for normal-weight women (BMI of 18.5-24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), a weight gain of 25-35 lbs. (11.5-16 kg) is considered appropriate<sup>81</sup>. The optimal weight gain recommended may differ for Asian women.

## 152 Alcohol

153 It is estimated that globally, 10% of women consume alcohol during pregnancy<sup>82</sup>. Data suggests  
154 that in Europe, the percentage is higher and involves about a quarter of the pregnant women. In  
155 some specific countries, the consumption of alcohol during pregnancy is even higher - Russia  
156 (36.5%), the United Kingdom (41.3%), Denmark (45.8%), Belarus (46.6%), and Ireland  
157 (60.4%)<sup>82</sup>. Unfortunately, alcohol use and binge drinking among women of childbearing age has  
158 been increasing in most countries globally<sup>83</sup>. In a recent report published in 2018, Denny et al,  
159 reported that globally, almost one in nine (11.5%) of pregnant were now drinking alcohol during  
160 pregnancy and 3.9% engage in binge drinking during the previous 30 days<sup>84</sup>. Prenatal alcohol  
161 exposure can affect multiple aspects of infant health and development<sup>85</sup>. The harm starts  
162 preconception, as it adversely affects the quality and quantity of maternal nutrient intake during  
163 this period<sup>86</sup>. Since almost one-half of all pregnancies in the United States are unintended, and

Comment [MM3]: tipfeler

Comment [MM4]: This is specific sentence, so it is necessary to insert an appropriate reference

Comment [MM5]: I suggest deleting the term "now" as it refers to the present tense

often unrecognized early on, alcohol intake often harms a fetus during embryologic (3–8 wk. of pregnancy) development<sup>87</sup>. The teratogenic effects of alcohol are most significant during this stage<sup>88</sup>. Alcohol use in women who are sexually active and in the reproductive age should therefore be (confirming with the current recommendation from the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, Center for Disease Control (CDC), Surgeon General, and medical societies from other countries including the Society of Obstetricians and Gynecologists of Canada) completely avoided<sup>89-91</sup>. Alcohol exposure during the second and third trimesters is also associated with neuronal loss, preterm labor, and preterm birth<sup>92-94</sup>. Other detrimental effects include miscarriage, intrauterine growth restriction, and stillbirth<sup>95,96</sup>. Alcohol consumption during pregnancy may lead to fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD). This includes growth retardation, craniofacial dysmorphisms, central nervous system dysfunction, or neurobehavioral disabilities in the newly born child<sup>97-99</sup>. Its use also detrimentally affects the mother. Pregnant and parenting women who use alcohol often shy away from necessary health care<sup>100</sup>. The related fear of a punitive response is partly responsible for avoiding much-needed health and social services. No safe limit has been established for alcohol consumption during pregnancy<sup>101</sup>. Its use should be avoided during pregnancy and breastfeeding<sup>102</sup>. Alcohol consumption and its harmful effects should be discussed by healthcare providers with pregnant women as early in the pregnancy as possible and during every prenatal visit<sup>103</sup>. WHO also recommends detoxification if addiction is detected in pregnant women<sup>104</sup>. Withdrawal symptoms (visual, auditory, and tactile disturbances, tremors, sweating, agitation, anxiety) may occur and if severe, may require inpatient monitoring during detoxification<sup>105</sup>.

## Exercise

Exercise tends to decrease in many women with pregnancy<sup>106,107</sup>. It is estimated that almost 60% of women are inactive during pregnancy<sup>108</sup>, and only 15%–38% of pregnant women follow physical activity (PA) guidelines<sup>109</sup>. The numbers are drastically lower in the 3<sup>rd</sup> trimester with only 8% meeting the recommended activity guidelines<sup>110</sup>. The decrease in levels of PA during pregnancy often persists up to six months after delivery<sup>111</sup>. Several barriers contribute towards this increase in sedentary behavior, including worries that PA may lead to a miscarriage. Other justifications include nausea and increased body weight and body size<sup>112</sup>. However, PA and physical exercise during pregnancy is not only safe but helps improve maternal and fetal health. It prevents several pregnancy-related complications<sup>113,114</sup>. It deters weight gain<sup>115</sup>. Exercise before and during pregnancy also helps reduce the risk of maternal GD<sup>116</sup> and if present, makes it easier to control<sup>117</sup>. It also helps prevent preeclampsia<sup>118</sup>. Regular exercise may shorten the duration of labor and reduce the risk of Cesarean section and operative-assisted vaginal delivery<sup>119</sup>. Exercise also helps reduce peri-natal depression<sup>120</sup>. PA does not lead to adverse effects on birth weight and does not increase the risk of stillbirth. Fetal benefits include reduced preterm birth and decreased fat mass<sup>121</sup>. There is no detrimental effect on lactation or infant growth<sup>122</sup>. Even non-traditional exercises like yoga reduces pregnancy-related complications<sup>123,124</sup>. Exercise also helps relieve stress, lowers blood pressure, improves blood cholesterol levels, decreases depression, and enhances self-confidence<sup>125,126</sup>. In general, exercise reduces the morbidity and mortality associated with CVD, HTN, T2DM, and many other chronic diseases<sup>127</sup>. Several professional associations, including the American College of Obstetrics and

**Comment [MM6]:** Instead of this title I suggest the title Physical activity

Gynecology (ACOG) recommend that pregnant women perform at least 30 minutes of moderate exercise, five days per week<sup>128,129</sup>. Aerobic exercise can be safely initiated in the first trimester and continued until delivery<sup>130,131</sup>. Resistance exercises, properly designed, may also help complement aerobic exercises<sup>132,133</sup>. Besides improving cardiorespiratory fitness, exercise also helps decrease weight gain, diminish lower limb edema, and mitigate depression<sup>134,135</sup>. Postpartum exercises also help decrease urinary urge incontinence, reduce lumbopelvic pain, and help strengthen the recti abdominus muscles<sup>136,137</sup>. Certain exercises may, however, cause harm and should be avoided. These include exercise at a higher elevation (above 5250 feet), those increasing the risk of contact, falling, or abdominal trauma, and underwater activities like scuba diving<sup>138</sup>. Hot yoga and hot Pilates may also cause harm. Women should not exercise if they have severe preeclampsia or other comorbid severe diseases. They should not exercise if they suffer from placenta previa, second or third trimester bleeding, vasa previa, intrauterine growth restriction, and preterm labor<sup>139,140</sup>. These women can minimize the risk of venous thromboembolism by ambulating regularly rather than exercising<sup>141</sup>. They should stop exercising and seek immediate medical attention if there are unexplained symptoms – such as dizziness, shortness of breath, chest pain, or calf pain. Exercise should be stopped, and medical advice sought if there are painful contractions, vaginal bleeding, a leak of the amniotic fluid, or rupture of membranes<sup>142,143</sup>.

**Comment [MM7]:** tipfeler

## Diet

**Comment [MM8]:** Instead of this title I suggest the title Nutrition

Adherence to the nutritional recommendations is low in pregnant women<sup>144,145</sup>. Most women start avoiding alcohol and caffeine when they find out that they are pregnant<sup>146</sup>. However, diet modification during pregnancy is more complex<sup>147</sup>. The non-pregnancy requirement for protein is generally 0.8g/kg/day. In pregnant women, due to the needs of the growing fetus, this goes up to 1.1g/kg/day<sup>148</sup>. Pregnant women should consume 45-64% of daily calories from carbohydrates and 20-35% of daily calories from fats. The micronutrient intake also goes up – both during pregnancy and during lactation. Three micronutrients are specifically important – folic acid, iron, and vitamin B12. The requirements for folic acid increase 10-20-fold, for iron two- to three-fold, and for B12, about two-fold. Folic acid is necessary to support cell growth and nucleotide synthesis for fetal and placental development. Several studies have shown that folic acid supplementation helps reduce neural tube defects in the offspring. It is recommended that folate consumption should increase from 400 µg/day to 600 µg/day during pregnancy and should be around 500 µg/day during lactation<sup>149</sup>. Another micro-nutrient requirement – iron, nearly doubles during pregnancy. Its requirements go up from 18 mg/day to 27 mg/day. Iron deficiency anemia (ferritin <15 µg/L) is not uncommon in this population and needs to be aggressively treated. Although other micronutrient requirements also go up, these can usually be taken care of by the intake of a daily prenatal multivitamin, both before conception, during pregnancy, and during lactation. An additional 500 kcal/day intake is needed by breastfeeding women beyond what is recommended for non-pregnant women<sup>150</sup> to ensure adequate weight gain by the newborn. Requirements of many micronutrients also continue to be high during this postnatal lactating phase.

**Comment [MM9]:** These are specific sentences, so it is necessary to insert corresponding sources (references)

**Comment [MM10]:** This section mentions that several studies have shown that taking folic acid-supplements "helps reduce neural tube damage." I suggest that the authors provide the appropriate sources (references) to which they refer

**Comment [MM11]:** This reference should be placed at the end of the sentence.



## Conclusion

Lifestyles are extremely important in modifying the results of pregnancy. Obesity has a harmful relationship with pregnancy, and this is often unrecognized, overlooked, or ignored. Obesity impacts pregnancy even before conception as it reduces fertility. During pregnancy, excess body weight significantly increases the risk of maternal and fetal complications. It also adversely affects the future of both the mother and the child. The quality of diet also has a significant impact on maternal and fetal health. The increased protein requirement and the critical role played by folic acid and iron in the health of the growing fetus are well recognized. The IOM dietary guidelines are extremely helpful. The deleterious role of smoking and alcohol for both the pregnant mother and the offspring has been well studied. Even a single cigarette or an alcoholic drink is unsafe in pregnancy. And finally, the myth of exercise not being safe during pregnancy has now long been proven false. Most healthy nulliparas are advised 30 minutes of moderate-intensity exercise about 5 days a week. The adoption of healthy lifestyles should begin before pregnancy and continue through the postpartum period.

## References

1. <https://americanpregnancy.org/>.
2. ACOG Committee on Obstetric Practice and Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine. (2013; Reaffirmed 2015). Committee Opinion No. 579. Definition of term pregnancy.
3. Soma-Pillay P., Nelson-Piercy C., Tolppanen H., Mebazaa A. Physiological changes in pregnancy. *Cardiovasc. J. Afr.* 2016;27:89–94. doi: 10.5830/CVJA-2016-021.
4. Institute of Medicine. Weight Gain during Pregnancy: Reexamining the Guidelines. National Academies Press; Washington, DC, USA: 2009.
5. Tkachenko O., Shchekochikhin D., Schrier R.W. Hormones and Hemodynamics in Pregnancy. *Int. J. Endocrinol. Metab.* 2014;12:e14098. doi: 10.5812/ijem.14098.
6. Soma-Pillay P., Nelson-Piercy C., Tolppanen H., Mebazaa A. Physiological changes in pregnancy. *Cardiovasc. J. Afr.* 2016;27:89–94. doi: 10.5830/CVJA-2016-021.
7. Truchet S., Honvo-Houéto E. Physiology of milk secretion. *Pract. Res. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 2017;31:367–384. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2017.10.008.
8. Li Yanping, An Pan, Dong D. et al. Impact of Healthy Lifestyle Factors on Life Expectancies in the US Population. *Circulation.* 2018;138:345–355. <https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.032047>.
9. Flemming K, McCaughan, Angus K, et al. Qualitative systematic review: barriers and facilitators to smoking cessation experienced by women in pregnancy and following childbirth. *J Adv Nurs.* 2014;71(6):1210–1226. doi:10.1111/jan.12580.
10. NHS Information Centre. Infant Feeding Survey 2010: Early Results. The NHS Information Centre; 2011. ;Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Pregnancy Risk Assessment Monitoring System 2009–2010. National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion; 2009.

**Comment [MM12]:** It is necessary to cite the source (reference) as required by the journal's guidelines to cite the source from the website  
[https://www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/uniform\\_requirements.html#electronic](https://www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/uniform_requirements.html#electronic) subsection 38 or 39, as applicable

**Comment [MM13]:** It is necessary to cite the source (reference) as required by the journal's guidelines to cite the source from the website  
[https://www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/uniform\\_requirements.html#electronic](https://www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/uniform_requirements.html#electronic) subsection 38 or 39, as applicable

11. Oh S, Reingle Gonzalez JM, Salas-Wright CP, Vaughn MG, DiNitto DM. Prevalence and correlates of alcohol and tobacco use among pregnant women in the United States: Evidence from the NSDUH 2005-2014. *Prev Med.* 2017 Apr;97:93-99.
12. Committee opinion no. 721 summary: smoking cessation during pregnancy. *Obstetrics and Gynecology.* 2017; 130(4): 1. DOI: 10.1097/AOG.0000000000002348.
13. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. The health consequences of smoking: a report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services; 2004.
14. Kelkay B, Omer A, Teferi Y, Moges Y. Factors associated with singleton preterm birth in Shire Suhul General Hospital, Northern Ethiopia, 2018. *Journal of Pregnancy.* 2019; 4629101. DOI: 10.1155/2019/4629101.
15. Liu B, Xu G, Sun Y, et al. Maternal cigarette smoking before and during pregnancy and the risk of preterm birth: a dose-response analysis of 25 million mother-infant pairs. *PLoS Medicine.* 2020; 17(8): e1003158. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1003158.
16. Bjørnholt SM, Leite M, Albieri V, Kjaer SK, Jensen A. Maternal smoking during pregnancy and risk of stillbirth: results from a nationwide Danish register-based cohort study. *Acta Obstetrica et Gynecologica Scandinavica.* 2016; 95(11): 1305–1312. DOI: 10.1111/aogs.13011.
17. Philips, EM, Santos S, Trasande L, et al. Changes in parental smoking during pregnancy and risks of adverse birth outcomes and childhood overweight in Europe and North America: an individual participant data meta-analysis of 229,000 singleton births. *PLoS Medicine.* 2020; 17(8): e1003182. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1003182.
18. Tong VT, England LJ, Rockhill KM, D'Angelo DV. Risks of preterm delivery and small for gestational age infants: effects of nondaily and low-intensity daily smoking during pregnancy. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology.* 2017; 31(2): 144–148. DOI: 10.1111/ppe.12343.
19. CInerney C, Ibiebele I, Ford JB, et al. Benefits of not smoking during pregnancy for Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women and their babies: a retrospective cohort study using linked data. *BMJ Open.* 2019; 9(11): e032763. DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-032763.
20. Anderson TM, Lavista Ferres JM, Ren SY, et al. Maternal smoking before and during pregnancy and the risk of sudden unexpected infant death. *Pediatrics.* 2019; 143(4): e20183325. DOI: 10.1542/peds.2018-3325.
21. Prabhu N, Smith N, Campbell D, et al. First trimester maternal tobacco smoking habits and fetal growth. *Thorax* 2010;65(3):235–40.
22. Amir LH. Maternal smoking and reduced duration of breastfeeding: a review of possible mechanisms. *Early Hum Dev.* 2001 Aug;64(1):45-67. doi: 10.1016/s0378-3782(01)00170-0.
23. Maziak W, Ward KD, Afifi Soweid RA, Eissenberg T. Tobacco smoking using a waterpipe: a re-emerging strain in a global epidemic. *Tob Control.* 2004;13(4):327–33.
24. Gupta PC, Sreevidya S. Smokeless tobacco use, birthweight, and gestational age: population based, prospective cohort study of 1217 women in Mumbai, India. *BMJ.* 2004;328(7455):1538.

**Comment [MM14]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM15]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM16]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM17]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).



25. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. The health consequences of involuntary exposure to tobacco smoke: a report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services; 2006.
26. Joad JP. Smoking and pediatric respiratory health. Clin Chest Med 2000;21(1):37–46.
27. Cook DG, Strachan DP. Health effects of passive smoking. 3. Parental smoking and prevalence of respiratory symptoms and asthma in school age children. Thorax 1997;52(12): 1081–94.
28. Gergen PJ, Fowler JA, Maurer KR, Davis WW, Overpeck MD. The burden of environmental tobacco smoke exposure on the respiratory health of children 2 months through 5 years of age in the United States: third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988 to 1994. Pediatrics 1998;101(2):[E8].
29. <https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/topics/repro/tobacco.html> - accessed January 8, 2022.
30. Luck W, Nau H. Nicotine and cotinine concentrations in serum and urine of infants exposed via passive smoking or milk from smoking mothers. J Pediatr 1985;107(5):816–20.
31. Rehan VK, Sakurai R, Torday JS. Thirdhand smoke: a new dimension to the effects of cigarette smoke on the developing lung. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2011;301(1):L1–8.
32. Dreyfuss JH. Thirdhand smoke identified as potent, enduring carcinogen. CA Cancer J Clin 2010;60(4):203–4.
33. The Health Consequences of Involuntary Exposure to Tobacco Smoke: A Report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA; 2006. A study by Weitzman et al. Weitzman M, Gortmaker S, Sobol A. Maternal smoking and behavior problems of children. Pediatrics 1992;90(3):342–9.
34. Reijneveld SA, Brugman E, Hirasing RA. Excessive infant crying: definitions determine risk groups. Arch Dis Child 2002;87(1):43–4.
35. Stene-Larsen K, Borge AIH, Vollrath M. Maternal smoking in pregnancy and externalizing behavior in 18-month-old children: results from a population-based prospective study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2009;48(3):283–9.
36. Twardella D, Bolte G, Fromme H, Wildner M, von Kries R. Exposure to secondhand tobacco smoke and child behaviour —results from a cross-sectional study among preschool children in Bavaria. Acta Paediatr 2010;99(1):106–11.
37. Gatzke Kopp L, Beauchaine T. Direct and passive prenatal nicotine exposure and the development of externalizing psychopathology. Child Psychiatry Hum Dev 2007;38(4):255–69.
38. Kahn R, Zuckerman B, Bauchner H, Homer C, Wise P. Women’s health after pregnancy and child outcomes at age 3 years: a prospective cohort study. Am J Public Health 2002;92(8):1312–8.
39. Day NL, Richardson GA, Goldschmidt L, Cornelius MD. Effects of prenatal tobacco exposure on preschoolers’ behavior. J Dev Behav Pediatr 2000;21(3):180–8.
40. Williams GM, O’Callaghan M, Najman JM, et al. Maternal cigarette smoking and child psychiatric morbidity: a longitudinal study. Pediatrics 1998;102(1):[E11].

**Comment [MM18]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM19]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM20]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM21]:** It is necessary to cite the source (reference) as required by the journal's guidelines to cite the source from the website  
[https://www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/uniform\\_requirements.html#electronic](https://www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/uniform_requirements.html#electronic) subsection 38 or 39, as applicable

**Comment [MM22]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM23]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM24]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM25]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM26]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM27]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM28]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM29]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM30]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM31]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM32]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

41. Wakschlag LS, Lahey BB, Loeber R, Green SM, Gordon RA, Leventhal BL. Maternal smoking during pregnancy and the risk of conduct disorder in boys. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 1997; 54(7):670–6.
42. Indredavik M, Brubakk A-M, Romundstad P, Vik T. Prenatal smoking exposure and psychiatric symptoms in adolescence. *Acta Paediatr* 2007;96(3):377–82.
43. McNeill, A., Brose, L. S., Calder, R., Hitchman, S. C., Hajek, P., & McRobbie, H. (2015). E-cigarettes: an evidence update. A report commissioned by Public Health England (PHE publications gateway number: 2015260).
44. Goniewicz M.L., Smith D.M., Edwards K.C., Blount B.C., Caldwell K.L., et al. Comparison of nicotine and toxicant exposure in users of electronic cigarettes and combustible cigarettes. *JAMA Network Open*. 2018;1(8):e185937. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.5937.
45. Hess, I. M., Lachireddy, K., & Capon, A. (2016). A systematic review of the health risks from passive exposure to electronic cigarette vapour. *Public Health Research & Practice*, 26(2). 10.17061/phrp2621617.6.
46. Cardenas V., Cen R., Clemens M., Moody H., Ekanem U., Policherla A....Boysen G. Use of Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems (ENDS) by pregnant women I: Risk of small-for-gestational-age birth. *Tobacco Induced Diseases*. 2019;17(May) doi: 10.18332/tid/106089.
47. Froggatt S., Covey J., Reissland N. Infant neurobehavioural consequences of prenatal cigarette exposure: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Paediatrica*. 2020;109(6):1112–1124. doi: 10.1111/apa.v109.610.1111/apa.15132.
48. McDonnell B.P., Dicker P., Regan C.L. Electronic cigarettes and obstetric outcomes: A prospective observational study. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*. 2020;127(6):750–756. doi: 10.1111/bjo.v127.610.1111/1471-0528.16110.
49. Leonardi-Bee J., Jere M.L., Britton J. Exposure to parental and sibling smoking and the risk of smoking uptake in childhood and adolescence: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Thorax*. 2011;66(10):847–855. doi: 10.1136/thx.2010.153379.
50. <https://www.acog.org/womens-health/faqs/obesity-and-pregnancy>.
51. Flegal K, Carroll M, Kit B, et al. Prevalence of obesity and trends in the distribution of body mass index among US adults, 1999–2010. *JAMA*. 2012;307:491–497.
52. Gesink Law DC, Maclehose RF, Longnecker MP. Obesity and time to pregnancy. *Hum Reprod*. 2007;22(2):414–420.
53. Nohr EA, Timpson NJ, Andersen CS, Davey Smith G, Olsen J, Sorensen TI. Severe obesity in young women and reproductive health: the Danish National Birth Cohort. *PLoS One*. 2009;4(12):e8444.
54. Milone M, De Placido G, Musella M, et al. Incidence of Successful Pregnancy After Weight Loss Interventions in Infertile Women: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of the Literature. *Obes Surg*. 2016;26(2):443–451.
55. Fitzsimons KJ, Modder J, Greer IA. Obesity in pregnancy: risks and management. *Obstet Med*. 2009 Jun;2(2):52–62.

**Comment [MM33]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM34]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM35]:** It is necessary to cite the source (reference) as required by the journal's guidelines to cite the source from the website  
[https://www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/uniform\\_requirements.html#electronic](https://www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/uniform_requirements.html#electronic) subsection 38 or 39, as applicable

**Comment [MM36]:** It is necessary to cite the source (reference) as required by the journal's guidelines to cite the source from the website  
[https://www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/uniform\\_requirements.html#electronic](https://www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/uniform_requirements.html#electronic) subsection 38 or 39, as applicable

**Comment [MM37]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM38]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM39]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM40]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

56. Lu GC, Rouse DJ, DuBard M, Cliver S, Kimberlin D, Hauth JC. The effect of the increasing prevalence of maternal obesity on perinatal morbidity. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 2001 Oct;185(4):845–849.
57. Metwally M, Ong KJ, Ledger WL, Li TC. Does high body mass index increase the risk of miscarriage after spontaneous and assisted conception? A meta-analysis of the evidence. *Fertil Steril* 2008;356:714–26. 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.07.1290.
58. Callaway LK, Prins JB, Chang AM, McIntyre HD. The prevalence and impact of overweight and obesity in an Australian obstetric population. *Med J Aust* 2006;184:56–9.
59. Cedergren MI. Maternal morbid obesity and the risk of adverse pregnancy outcome. *Obstet Gynecol* 2004;103:219–24.
60. Duckitt K, Harrington D. Risk factors for pre-eclampsia at antenatal booking: systematic review of controlled studies. *BMJ*. 2005 Mar 12;330(7491):565. doi: 10.1136/bmj.38380.674340.E0/
61. Lauenborg J, Hansen T, Jensen DM, et al. Increasing incidence of diabetes after gestational diabetes: A long-term follow-up in a Danish population. *Diab Care* 2004;27:1194–9.
62. Sebire NJ, Jolly M, Harris JP, Wadsworth J, Joffe M, Beard RW, Regan L, Robinson S. Maternal obesity and pregnancy outcome: a study of 287,213 pregnancies in London. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. 2001 Aug;25(8):1175–82. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0801670.
63. Abdollahi M, Cushman M, Rosendaal FR. Obesity: risk of venous thrombosis and the interaction with coagulation factor levels and oral contraceptive use. *Thromb Haemost* 2003;89:493–8.
64. Knight M; UKOSS. Antenatal pulmonary embolism: risk factors, management and outcomes. *BJOG*. 2008 Mar;115(4):453–61. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2007.01622.x.
65. Poston, L. , Caleyachetty, R. , Cnattingius, S. , Corvalán, C. , Uauy, R. , Herring, S. , & Gillman, M. W. (2016). Preconceptional and maternal obesity: epidemiology and health consequences. *The Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology*, 4(12), 1025–1036. 10.1016/S2213-8587(16)30217-0.
66. Vézina-Im, L.-A., Nicklas, T. A., & Baranowski, T. (2018). Intergenerational effects of health issues among women of childbearing age: A review of the recent literature. *Current Nutrition Reports*, 7(4), 274–285. 10.1007/s13668-018-0246-x.
67. Aune D, Saugstad OD, Henriksen T, Tonstad S. Maternal body mass index and the risk of fetal death, stillbirth, and infant death: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA* 2014;356:1536–46. 10.1001/jama.2014.2269 pmid:24737366.
68. Nuthalapaty FS, Rouse DJ, Owen J. The association of maternal weight with cesarean risk, labor duration, and cervical dilation rate during labor induction. *Obstet Gynecol* 2004;356:452–6.
69. Chu SY, Kim SY, Schmid CH, et al. Maternal obesity and risk of cesarean delivery: a meta-analysis. *Obes Rev* 2007;356:385–94. 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2007.00397.x.
70. Mhyre JM. Anesthetic management for the morbidly obese pregnant woman. *Int Anesthesiol Clin* 2007;356:51–70. 10.1097/AIA.0b013e31802b8a90.

**Comment [MM41]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM42]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM43]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM44]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM45]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM46]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

71. Dresner M, Brocklesby J, Bamber J. Audit of the influence of body mass index on the performance of epidural analgesia in labour and the subsequent mode of delivery. *BJOG* 2006;356:1178-81. 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2006.01048.x.
72. Wloch C, Wilson J, Lamagni T, Harrington P, Charlett A, Sheridan E. Risk factors for surgical site infection following caesarean section in England: results from a multicentre cohort study. *BJOG* 2012;356:1324-33. 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2012.03452.x,
73. Catalano PM, Shankar K. Obesity and pregnancy: mechanisms of short term and long term adverse consequences for mother and child. *BMJ*. 2017 Feb 08;356:j1.
74. Anderson JL, Waller DK, Canfield MA, Shaw GM, Watkins ML, Werler MM. Maternal obesity, gestational diabetes, and central nervous system birth defects. *Epidemiology*. 2005 Jan;16(1):87-92.
75. Stothard KJ, Tennant PW, Bell R, Rankin J. Maternal overweight and obesity and the risk of congenital anomalies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA* 2009;356:636-50. 10.1001/jama.2009.113.
76. Brite J, Laughon SK, Troendle J, Mills J. Maternal overweight and obesity and risk of congenital heart defects in offspring. *Int J Obes (Lond)* 2014;356:878-82. 10.1038/ijo.2013.244.
77. Vézina-Im, L.-A., Nicklas, T. A. , & Baranowski, T. (2018). Intergenerational effects of health issues among women of childbearing age: A review of the recent literature. *Current Nutrition Reports*, 7(4), 274–285. 10.1007/s13668-018-0246-x.
78. Wojcicki JM. Maternal prepregnancy body mass index and initiation and duration of breastfeeding: a review of the literature. *J Womens Health (Larchmt)* 2011;20(3):341–347.
79. Pirkola J, Pouta A, Bloigu A, et al. Prepregnancy overweight and gestational diabetes as determinants of subsequent diabetes and hypertension after 20-year follow-up. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*. 2010;95:772–778.
80. Walter JR, Perng W, Kleinman KP, Rifas-Shiman SL, Rich-Edwards JW, Oken E. Associations of trimester-specific gestational weight gain with maternal adiposity and systolic blood pressure at 3 and 7 years postpartum. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 2015 Apr;212(4):499.e1-12.
81. Institute of Medicine (US) and National Research Council (US) Committee to Reexamine IOM Pregnancy Weight Guidelines. *Weight Gain During Pregnancy: Reexamining the Guidelines*. Rasmussen KM, Yaktine AL, editors. National Academies Press (US); Washington (DC): 2009.
82. Popova S, Lange S, Probst C, Gmel G, Rehm J. Estimation of national, regional, and global prevalence of alcohol use during pregnancy and fetal alcohol syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Global Health*. 2017;5(3):e290–e9. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(17)30021-9.
83. World Health Organization . *Global Status Report on Alcohol and Health*. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.
84. Denny CH, et al. Consumption of alcohol beverages and binge drinking among pregnant women aged 18–44 years—United States, 2015–2017. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* 2019;68(16):365–8.

**Comment [MM47]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM48]:** tipfeler

**Comment [MM49]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM50]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM51]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM52]:** It is necessary to cite the source (reference) as required by the journal's guidelines to cite the source from the website  
[https://www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/uniform\\_requirements.html#electronic](https://www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/uniform_requirements.html#electronic) subsection 38 or 39, as applicable

**Comment [MM53]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

85. Abel EL. Prenatal effects of alcohol. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* 1984;14(1):1–10. doi: 10.1016/0376-8716(84)90012-7.
86. Breslow R.A., Guenther P.M., Smothers B.A. Alcohol drinking patterns and diet quality: The 1999–2000 national health and nutrition examination survey. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 2006;163:359–366. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwj050.
87. Finer LB, Zolna MR. Unintended pregnancy in the United States: incidence and disparities, 2006. *Contraception.* 2011;84:478–485.
88. West JR, Chen WJ, Pantazis NJ. Fetal alcohol syndrome: the vulnerability of the developing brain and possible mechanisms of damage. *Metab Brain Dis* 1994;9:291–322.
89. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Committee on Health Care for Underserved Women. Committee opinion no. 496: at-risk drinking and alcohol dependence obstetric and gynecologic implications. *Obstet Gynecol.* 2011; 118(pt 1):383–388.
90. Carson G, Cox LV, Crane J, et al. No. 245-Alcohol use and pregnancy consensus clinical guidelines. *J Obstet Gynaecol Can.* 2017;39:e220–e254.
91. Williams JF, Smith VC. Committee on substance abuse. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. *Pediatrics.* 2015;136:e1395–e1406.; Centers for disease control and prevention: fetal alcohol spectrum disorders (FASDs). 2018. Available at: [www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/fasd/alcohol-use.html](http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/fasd/alcohol-use.html) [Accessed June 18, 2018].
92. West JR, Chen WJ, Pantazis NJ. Fetal alcohol syndrome: the vulnerability of the developing brain and possible mechanisms of damage. *Metab Brain Dis* 1994;9:291–322.
93. Liu B, Xu G, Sun Y, Qiu X, Ryckman KK, Yu Y, Snetselaar LG, Bao W. Maternal cigarette smoking before and during pregnancy and the risk of preterm birth: A dose-response analysis of 25 million mother-infant pairs. *PLoS Med.* 2020 Aug 18;17(8):e1003158. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1003158.
94. Jeffrey BG, Weisinger HS, Neuringer M, Mitchell DC. The role of docosahexaenoic acid in retinal function. *Lipids* 2001;36:859–71.
95. Henderson J, Gray R, Brocklehurst P. Systematic review of effects of low-moderate prenatal alcohol exposure on pregnancy outcome. *BJOG.* 2007;114:243–252.
96. Muggli E, Matthews H, Penington A, et al. Association between prenatal alcohol exposure and craniofacial shape of children at 12 months of age. *JAMA Pediatr.* 2017;171:771–780.
97. Bertrand J, Floyd LL, Weber MK; Fetal Alcohol Syndrome Prevention Team, Division of Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities, National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Guidelines for identifying and referring persons with fetal alcohol syndrome. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2006;55(20):568.
98. Young JK, Giesbrecht HE, Eskin MN, Aliani M, Suh M. Nutrition implications for fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. *Adv Nutr.* 2014 Nov 14;5(6):675-92. doi: 10.3945/an.113.004846.
99. Williams JF, Smith VC, Committee on substance abuse. Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders. *Pediatrics.* 2015; 136(5):e1395-406.

**Comment [MM54]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM55]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM56]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM57]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM58]:** set the access period in square brackets

**Comment [MM59]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM60]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM61]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM62]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM63]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).



100. Hubberstey C., Rutman D. HerWay Home Program for Pregnant and Parenting Women Using Substances: A Brief Social Return on Investment Analysis. *Can. J. Addict.* 2019;11:6–14. doi: 10.1097/CXA.0000000000000086.
101. Ceccanti M, Iannitelli A, Fiore M. Italian Guidelines for the treatment of alcohol dependence. *Riv Psichiatr* 2018;53:105–6. doi:10.1708/2925.29410.
102. Gibson L, Porter M. Drinking or Smoking While Breastfeeding and Later Cognition in Children. *Pediatrics* 2018;142:e20174266. doi:10.1542/peds.2017-4266.
103. WHO, 2014b.
104. WHO. Guidelines for the Identification and Management of Substance Use and Substance Use Disorders in Pregnancy. World Health Organization; Geneva, Switzerland: 2014.
105. Bacon O, Robert S, VandenBerg A. Evaluating nursing satisfaction and utilization of the Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment for Alcohol, revised version (CIWA-Ar). *Ment Health Clin.* 2016 Jun;6(3):114-119.
106. Amezcua-Prieto C, Olmedo-Requena R, Jiménez-Mejías E, Hurtado-Sánchez F, Mozas-Moreno J, Lardelli-Claret P, Jiménez-Moleón JJ. Changes in leisure time physical activity during pregnancy compared to the prior year. *Matern Child Health J.* 2013 May;17(4):632-8. doi: 10.1007/s10995-012-1038-3.
107. Aguilar-Cordero M.J., Sánchez-López A.M., Rodríguez-Blanque R., Noack-Segovia J.P., Pozo-Cano M.D., López-Contreras G., Villar N.M. Physical activity by pregnant women and its influence on maternal and foetal parameters; a systematic review. *Nutr. Hosp.* 2014;30:719–726.
108. Poudevigne, M. S. , & O'Connor, P. J. (2006). A review of physical activity patterns in pregnant women and their relationship to psychological health. *Sports Medicine*, 36(1), 19–38. 10.2165/00007256-200636010-00003.
109. Broberg, L. , Ersbøll, A. S. , Backhausen, M. G. , Damm, P. , Tabor, A. , & Hegaard, H. K. (2015). Compliance with national recommendations for exercise during early pregnancy in a Danish cohort. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 15(1), 317 10.1186/s12884-015-0756-0.
110. Evenson KR, Wen F. Prevalence and correlates of objectively measured physical activity and sedentary behavior among US pregnant women. *Prev Med* 2011;53:39–43.
111. Pereira M.A., Rifas-Shiman S.L., Kleinman K.P., Rich-Edwards J.W., Peterson K.E., Gillman M.W. Predictors of change in physical activity during and after pregnancy: Project Viva. *Am. J. Prev. Med.* 2007;32:312–319. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2006.12.017.
112. Hausenblas H., Giacobbi P., Cook B., Rhodes R., Cruz A. Prospective examination of pregnant and nonpregnant women's physical activity beliefs and behaviours. *J. Reprod. Infant Psychol.* 2011;29:308–319. doi: 10.1080/02646838.2011.629993.
113. Haakstad LA, Bo K. Exercise in pregnant women and birth weight: a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth.* 2011;11:66 ;Lee I, Djoussé L., Sesso H.D., Wang L., Buring J.E. Physical activity and weight gain prevention. *JAMA.* 2010;303(12):1173–1179.

**Comment [MM64]:** It is necessary to cite the source (reference) as required by the journal's guidelines to cite the source from the website  
[https://www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/uniform\\_requirements.html#electronic](https://www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/uniform_requirements.html#electronic) subsection 38 or 39, as applicable

**Comment [MM65]:** It is necessary to cite the source (reference) as required by the journal's guidelines to cite the source from the website  
[https://www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/uniform\\_requirements.html#electronic](https://www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/uniform_requirements.html#electronic) subsection 38 or 39, as applicable

**Comment [MM66]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM67]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM68]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM69]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).



114. Davenport, M. , Meah, V. , Ruchat, S. , Davies, G. , Skow, R. , Barrowman, N. , ... Mottola, M. F. (2018). Impact of prenatal exercise on neonatal and childhood outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 52(21), 1386–1396. 10.1136/bjsports-2018-099836.
115. Ruchat, S.-M. , Mottola, M. F. , Skow, R. J. , Nagpal, T. S. , Meah, V. L. ,et al. (2018). Effectiveness of exercise interventions in the prevention of excessive gestational weight gain and postpartum weight retention: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 52(21), 1347–1356. 10.1136/bjsports-2018-099399.
116. Ramos-Leví A.M., Pérez-Ferre N., Fernández M.D. Risk factors for gestational diabetes mellitus in a large population of women living in Spain: implications for preventative strategies. *Int J Endocrinol*. 2012;312529.
117. Deierlein AL, Siega-Riz AM, Evenson KR. Physical activity during pregnancy and the risk of hyperglycemia. *J Womens Health (Larchmt)*. 2012;21:769-775.
118. Kasawara KT, do Nascimento SL, Costa ML, Surita FG, e Silva JL. Exercise and physical activity in the prevention of pre-eclampsia: systematic review. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand*. 2012;91:1147-1157.
119. Kardel KR, Johanse B, Voldner N, Iversen PO, Henriksen T. Association between aerobic fitness in late pregnancy and duration of labor in nulliparous women. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand*. 2009;88:948-952.
120. Sánchez-Polán M, Franco E, Silva-José C, Gil-Ares J, Pérez-Tejero J, Barakat R, Refoyo I. Exercise During Pregnancy and Prenatal Depression: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Front Physiol*. 2021 Jun 28;12:640024. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.640024.
121. Magro-Malosso ER, Saccone G, Di Mascio D, Di Tommaso M, Berghella V. Exercise during pregnancy and risk of preterm birth in overweight and obese women: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand*. 2017 Mar;96(3):263-273. doi: 10.1111/aogs.13087.
122. Cary GB, Quinn TJ. Exercise and lactation: are they compatible? *Can J Appl Physiol* 2001;26:55–75. 10.1139/h01-004.
123. Rakhshani A, Nagarathna R, Mhaskar R, Mhaskar A, Thomas A, Gunasheela S. The effects of yoga in prevention of pregnancy complications in high-risk pregnancies: A randomized controlled trial. *Prev Med* 2012;55:333–340.
124. Bouya S, Rezaie Keikhaie L, Hosseini S, Rezaie Keikhaie K. The effect of yoga on uterine artery Doppler indices, maternal and fetal complications in pregnant women: A quasi-experimental study. *J Ayurveda Integr Med* 2021;12:70–74.
125. Dhana K, Haines J, Liu G, Zhang C, Wang X, Field AE, Chavarro JE, Sun Q. Association between maternal adherence to healthy lifestyle practices and risk of obesity in offspring: results from two prospective cohort studies of mother-child pairs in the United States. *BMJ*. 2018 Jul 04;362:k2486.
126. Szumilewicz A. Who and how should prescribe and conduct exercise programs for pregnant women? Recommendation based on the European educational standards for pregnancy and postnatal exercise specialists. *Dev Period Med*. 2018;22(2):107-112.
127. Melzer K, Keyser B, Pichard C. Physical activity: the health benefits outweigh the risks. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2004;7:641-647.

**Comment [MM70]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM71]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM72]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM73]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM74]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM75]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM76]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM77]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

**Comment [MM78]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

128. Mottola MF, Davenport MH, Ruchat SM, et al. Canadian Guideline for Physical Activity throughout Pregnancy. *J Obstet Gynaecol Can.* 2018 Nov;40(11):1528-1537. doi: 10.1016/j.jogc.2018.07.001.
129. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists Physical activity and exercise during pregnancy and the postpartum period. Committee Opinion No. 650. *Obstet Gynecol.* 2015;126:e135–e142. doi: 10.1097/AOG.0000000000001214.
130. Di Mascio D, Magro-Malosso ER, Saccone G, et al. . Exercise during pregnancy in normal-weight women and risk of preterm birth: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2016;215:561–71. 10.1016/j.ajog.2016.06.014.
131. Magro-Malosso ER, Saccone G, Di Mascio D, et al. . Exercise during pregnancy and risk of preterm birth in overweight and obese women: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2017;96:263–73. 10.1111/aogs.13087.
132. Perales M, Santos-Lozano A, Ruiz JR, Lucia A, Barakat R. Benefits of aerobic or resistance training during pregnancy on maternal health and perinatal outcomes: A systematic review. *Early Hum Dev.* 2016 Mar;94:43-8. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2016.01.004.
133. Barakat R, Perales M. Resistance Exercise in Pregnancy and Outcome. *Clin Obstet Gynecol.* 2016 Sep;59(3):591-9. doi: 10.1097/GRF.0000000000000213.
134. O'Toole ML, Sawicki MA, Artal R. Structured diet and physical activity prevent postpartum weight retention. *J Womens Health* 2003;12:991–8. doi:10.1089/154099903322643910.
135. Davenport MH, McCurdy AP, Mottola MF, et al. Impact of prenatal exercise on both prenatal and postnatal anxiety and depressive symptoms: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br J Sports Med* 2018;52:1376–85. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099697.
136. Nygaard I, Girts T, Fultz NH, et al. . Is urinary incontinence a barrier to exercise in women? *Obstet Gynecol* 2005;106:307–14. 10.1097/01.AOG.0000168455.39156.0f.
137. Sancho MF, Pascoal AG, Mota P, et al. || Abdominal exercises affect inter-rectus distance in postpartum women: a two-dimensional ultrasound study. *Physiotherapy* 2015;101:286–91. 10.1016/j.physio.2015.04.004.
138. American Academy of Pediatrics, American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists . Guidelines for perinatal care. 8th ed. Elk Grove Village, IL and Washington, DC: AAP, American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, 2017.
139. Mottola MF. Components of exercise prescription and pregnancy. *Clin Obstet Gynecol* 2016;59:552–8. 10.1097/GRF.0000000000000207.
140. Meah VL, Davies GA, Davenport MH. Why can't I exercise during pregnancy? Time to revisit medical 'absolute' and 'relative' contraindications: systematic review of evidence of harm and a call to action. *Br J Sports Med* 2020;54:1395–404. 10.1136/bjsports-2020-102042.
141. Ferrari N, Graf C. [Recommendations for Physical Activity During and After Pregnancy]. *Gesundheitswesen.* 2017 Mar;79(S 01):S36-S39||

**Comment [MM79]:** tipfeler

**Comment [MM80]:** Use of DOI number for the full-text article is encouraged. (if available).

- 666 142. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. ACOG Committee  
667 opinion no. 650: physical activity and exercise during pregnancy and the postpartum  
668 period. *Obstet Gynecol* 2015;126:e135–42. 10.1097/AOG.0000000000001214.
- 669 143. Mottola MF, Davenport MH, Ruchat S-M, et al. No. 367-2019 Canadian  
670 guideline for physical activity throughout pregnancy. *J Obstet Gynaecol Can*  
671 2018;40:1528–37. 10.1016/j.jogc.2018.07.001.
- 672 144. Bookari, K. , Yeatman, H. , & Williamson, M. (2016). Falling short of dietary  
673 guidelines—What do Australian pregnant women really know? A cross sectional study.  
674 *Women and Birth*, 30(1), 9–17. 10.1016/j.wombi.2016.05.010).
- 675 145. Jarman, M. , Bell, R. C. , Nerenberg, K. , & Robson, P. J. (2017). Adherence to  
676 Canada's food guide recommendations during pregnancy. *Current Developments in*  
677 *Nutrition*, 1(7), e000356 10.3945/cdn.116.000356.
- 678 146. Bookari, K. , Yeatman, H. , & Williamson, M. (2016). Falling short of dietary  
679 guidelines—What do Australian pregnant women really know? A cross sectional study.  
680 *Women and Birth*, 30(1), 9–17. 10.1016/j.wombi.2016.05.010.
- 681 147. Kominiarek MA, Rajan P. Nutrition Recommendations in Pregnancy and  
682 Lactation. *Med Clin North Am*. 2016;100(6):1199-1215.  
683 doi:10.1016/j.mcna.2016.06.004.
- 684 148. Trumbo P, Yates AA, Poos M. Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine:  
685 Dietary Reference Intakes for Energy, Carbo-hydrate, Fiber, Fat, Fatty Acids,  
686 Cholesterol, Protein, and Amino Acids. National Academies Press; Washington, DC:  
687 2002. SS.
- 688 149. Otten JJ, Meyers LD. Dietary reference intakes. The essential guide to nutrient  
689 requirements. National Academies Press; 2006. HJP.
- 690 150. Guidelines for perinatal care. 7th American Academy of Pediatrics and the  
691 American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists; Washington, DC: 2012.

**Comment [MM81]:** tipfeler

**Comment [MM82]:** tipfeler

**Comment [MM83]:** tipfeler

**Comment [MM84]:** tipfeler